### Citizen Brief

Strengthening Collaboration to Optimize Efforts Addressing Gambling-related Harm in Ontario

2 February 2018





McMaster HEALTH FORUM FORUM+



#### The McMaster Health Forum and Forum +

The goal of the McMaster Health Forum, and its Forum+ initiative, is to generate action on the pressing health- and social-system issues of our time, based on the best available research evidence and systematically elicited citizen values and stakeholder insights. We aim to strengthen health and social systems – locally, nationally, and internationally – and get the right programs, services and products to the people who need them. In doing so, we are building on McMaster's expertise in advancing human and societal health and well-being.

#### About citizen panels

A citizen panel is an innovative way to seek public input on high-priority issues. Each panel brings together 14-16 citizens from all walks of life. Panel members share their ideas and experiences on an issue, and learn from research evidence and from the view of others. The discussions of a citizen panel can reveal new understandings about an issue and spark insights about how it should be addressed.

#### About this brief

This brief was produced by the McMaster Health Forum | Forum+ to serve as the basis for discussions by the citizen panel on how to strengthen collaboration to optimize efforts addressing gambling-related harm in Ontario.

This brief includes information on this topic, including what is known about:

- the underlying problem;
- three possible approach elements to address the problem; and
- potential barriers and facilitators to implement these approach elements.

This brief does not contain recommendations, which would have required the authors to make judgments based on their personal values and preferences.

#### McMaster Health Forum

#### **Table of Contents**

Key Messages	1
Questions for the citizen panel	4
The context: Why is it important to optimize efforts to address gambling-related harms?	6
The problem: Why are improvements needed to address gambling-related harms?	9
Gambling-related harms are associated with a range of co-occurring issues	10
Many provincial efforts to prevent gambling-related harms are pursued in isolation from other challenges associated with these harms	11
Provincial efforts place greater emphasis on supporting individual problem-gambling behaviours, rather than on addressing gambling-related risks to the public as a whole	11
Socio-economic, ethnocultural and geographic factors create unique issues that further complicate our understanding of problem gambling	12
Existing governance and financial arrangements create a number of additional challenges	14
Data and evidence could be better used to understand gambling-related harms in Ontario	15
Elements of an approach to address the problem	16
Element 1 — Get the right services to those who need them and bring a public-health perspective to bear	18
Element 2 — Align how funds set aside from gaming revenue are used to better support evidence-informed policies and practices	21
Element 3 — Establish governance structures that clarify leadership, strengthen collaboration, and promote cross-sectoral partnerships	22
Implementation considerations	24
Acknowledgments	28
References	20

### **Key Messages**

#### What's the problem?

There are many reasons why the current approach to treating and managing gambling-related harms in Ontario could be improved, including:

- gambling-related harms are associated with a range of co-occurring issues;
- many provincial efforts to prevent gambling-related harms are pursued in isolation from other challenges associated with these harms;
- provincial efforts place greater emphasis on supporting individual problem-gambling behaviours, rather than on addressing gambling-related risks to the public as a whole;
- socio-economic, ethnocultural and geographical factors create unique issues that complicate our understanding of gambling in the province;
   existing governance and financial arrangements create a number of additional challenges; and
- data and evidence could be better used to understand the scope of the problem in Ontario.

### What do we know about elements of a potentially comprehensive approach for addressing the problem?

- Element 1: Get the right services to those who need them and bring a public-health perspective to bear
  - o Research evidence related to this element found:
    - prevention and awareness initiatives help to increase the public's knowledge about gamblingrelated harms, but do not necessarily change behaviour;
    - more research evidence is needed to determine best practices for screening for problem gambling, however, the recent expansion of online gaming may challenge existing screening methods;
    - there are a range of public-health and harm-reduction approaches which may help to reduce gambling-related harms, including: 1) mandatory limit setting accompanied by reminders; 2) low bet limits (e.g., \$1); 3) mandatory shut-downs and reduced operating hours; and 4) on-screen clocks displaying cash used and remaining, rather than credits.
- Element 2: Align how funds set aside from gaming revenue are used to better support evidence-informed policies and practices
  - We found no research evidence that directly addressed this element or any of its sub-elements.
- Element 3: Establish governance structures that clarify leadership, strengthen collaboration, and promote cross-sectoral partnerships
  - O We found no research evidence that directly addressed this element, but found some research evidence that showed long-term benefits from collaboration across sectors.

#### What implementation considerations need to be kept in mind?

The positive momentum behind the elements discussed in this brief may spark changes to the treatment and management of gambling-related harms and gambling-related disorders in Ontario. However, a number of barriers to change exist, including that health and social systems have traditionally operated separately in Ontario.

#### **Box 2: Glossary**

#### Gaming

A broad term for a number of types of play or activity, including gambling, but may also apply to non-financial transactions. In Ontario, gaming refers to: lotteries; casino gambling; charitable gaming (for example, bingo raffles conducted by eligible charities); electronic raffles; and internet gaming.

#### Gambling

A person is gambling whenever he or she takes the chance of losing money or belongings, and when winning or losing is decided mostly by chance. There are many different ways to gamble, and may include, among others: lottery tickets; slot machines; bingo; casino games; betting on horse racing; betting on sports; internet gambling; and high-risk speculative investing such as day trading and penny stocks.

#### Gambling-related harm

Gambling-related problems can occur along a continuum of infrequent and recreational gambling to pathological gambling. Gambling-related harms include individual, familial and community problems, such as decline in health, emotional distress, relationship disruption, reduced performance at work or study, financial challenges, or criminal activity. These harms may occur whether or not someone is a problem or disordered gambler.

#### Problem gambling (also described as gambling disorder)

Problem or disordered gambling is typically diagnosed by a mental health professional using validated assessment tools. In Ontario, it is estimated that 0.6% of the population are problem gamblers and 1.9% are moderate-risk gamblers.

#### Box 2 (cont.): Glossary

#### Public-health approach

Promotion and prevention efforts designed to act on the population as a whole to improve health and social well-being (for example, information and education on gambling and its related harms, setting hours of operations for casinos, including pop-up warnings after individuals have been playing for a certain amount of time, and putting in place an entrance fee for gambling facilities) rather than at the individual level.

#### Comorbidity or co-occurring issues

A term that refers to the presence of two or more physical or mental health issues experienced by a person at the same time. For example, an individual may have a gambling disorder and depression.

#### Mental health and addictions services

Programs, interventions and supports designed to meet the needs of people who are experiencing, or are at risk of experiencing, mental health and/or substance use.

#### Core set of mental health and addictions services

A publicly-funded set of institutional, hospital, residential and community services that is available to all Ontarians in every region in the province.

### **Questions for the citizen panel**

>> We want to hear your views about a problem, three elements of a potentially comprehensive approach to addressing it, and how to address barriers to moving forward.

This brief was prepared to stimulate discussion during the citizen panel. The views and experiences of citizens can make a significant contribution to finding the best ways to meet their needs. More specifically, the panel will provide an opportunity to explore the questions outlined in Box 1. We encourage you to glance at them now, and to return to them after you have read the brief. Although we will be looking for common ground during our discussion about these and other questions, the goal of the panel is not to reach consensus, but to gather a range of perspectives on this topic. To help you better understand some of the terminology when considering these questions and reading through the brief, we would encourage you to review the glossary provided above before reading the rest of the brief (glossary of key terms in Box 2).

#### Box 1: Questions for citizens

#### Questions related to the problem

- Do you see any parallels between how we approach the challenges associated with alcohol and tobacco use, and those that are associated with gambling?
- Do you have any worries about gambling-related harms?
  - o Are there particular risk factors for problem gambling that you are more concerned about than others?
  - o Are there particular health and social challenges that you find more concerning than others?
- What are the biggest gambling-related challenges that communities face?
- Are there specific groups of Ontarians for which the problems associated with gambling are particularly concerning (for example, those with lower incomes, those from particular age groups or cultural backgrounds, or those living in particular areas)?
- What do you think are the major barriers faced by individuals with gambling-related problems when trying to access the services they may need to improve their health and well-being?

### General questions related to the elements of a potentially comprehensive approach to address the problem (with more specific questions included later for each element)

- Do you think that public-health approaches similar to those that have been used to address the health
  risks associated with alcohol and tobacco in Ontario (for example, restrictions on advertisements,
  specific hours where products can be sold, requirement of warning messages on packages) should
  also be applied to gambling?
- What types of programs and services should be made more accessible to individual Ontarians in order to reduce gambling-related harms?
- What types of 'public-health' approaches should be used to reduce gambling-related harms across entire communities?
- How could the approach to funding the full range of programs and services delivered by organizations and agencies be improved?
- Who should be responsible for coordinating an approach that ensures Ontarians have access to the full range of support they need to reduce gambling-related harms?

#### Question related to implementation considerations

• What are the main challenges in moving forward with solutions to address gambling-related harms in Ontario?



Though most people gamble safely for entertainment, there is an emerging concern about gambling-related harms among some individuals and communities.

# **The context:** Why is it important to optimize efforts to address gambling-related harms?

Government-operated gambling has grown over the past two decades, with revenues reaching \$6.6 billion in 2014-2015.(1) While this revenue supports a range of health, education and other social services in the province, it has also come at the price of emerging concerns about gambling-related harms.

While many individuals in the province gamble without causing harm to themselves or others, about 2.5% of Ontarians exhibit evidence of problem gambling, with similar proportions among youth but a slightly higher proportion among older adults.(2) However, the proportion of those who seek treatment is small, with estimates suggesting that only 10% of problem gamblers seek support. There may be many other individuals who do not seek support who continue to experience social distress, debt or other symptoms associated with problem gambling. Gambling-related harms may result in a number of individual challenges, including:

- health-related harms (including substance-use problems);
- emotional or psychological distress;

- relationship disruption, conflict or breakdown;
- reduced performance at work or in study;
- financial harm; and
- criminal activity.

Like many other health and social challenges, these gambling-related harms may also affect family members, broader communities and the population as a whole, for example by placing strain on relationships or by negatively influencing the financial situations of families.

The establishment of the gaming (which includes gambling) industry in Ontario is relatively recent, having taken shape over the past three decades.(3) Two provincial agencies have primary responsibility for this industry: The Alcohol and Gaming Commission of Ontario, and the Ontario Lottery and Gaming Corporation. Increasingly, the industry has begun acknowledging the harms that problem gambling can result in, demonstrating greater consideration of how better public protection from gambling-related harms could be integrated into the province's vision for gambling.(4) This includes launching a website dedicated to providing information and advice for gambling in Ontario (www.playsmart.ca), and the province's self-exclusion program. Despite these and other positive changes, the recent expansion of online gaming, and as a result the increase in the availability and accessibility of gambling and gaming, creates some uncertainty about how these changes will affect the number of individuals experiencing gambling-related harms, or the best ways to support the treatment of problem gambling. Furthermore, while the provincial government has begun implementing significant policy reforms to improve access to mental health and addictions services, separation in the governance and financial arrangements that organize mental health and addictions services from those that organize gambling services (further discussed later in the brief) has meant that gambling services have been largely left out.

The changes to both the gambling industry (including online gaming and venue expansion) and to the mental health and addictions sector provide a unique opportunity to consider what changes could be made to reduce gambling-related harms and better support those at risk of problem-gambling behaviours in the province.(3; 5) We are therefore seeking citizens' perspectives to inform the efforts of those who are able to champion change in the province.

### Box 3: Key features of gambling programs and services in Ontario

Key features of the health and social systems within which gambling programs and services are delivered

- Gambling services, including the identification of gambling problems, are provided by a range of regulated and non-regulated health professionals, as well as a number of service providers outside of the health system (e.g., social workers and debt counsellors).
- Gambling services vary in whether they are publicly funded with select specialty services only
  available in private practice having to be paid for by either the patients, or through a private
  insurance plan.
- These services may be provided in a person's home, community mental health and addictions agencies, primary-care offices and specialists offices as well as in a variety of other settings, including schools, gambling facilities, and local community centres to name a few.
- While the delivery of gambling services largely happens alongside other mental health and addictions services, funding comes from different streams, with the majority stemming from gambling revenues.
- There are over 40 community agencies (each with multiple programs) and 10 hospitals providing a wide variety of programs and services designed to meet the needs of Ontarians, including, among others, telephone counselling and self-help, specialized counselling and credit and debt counselling services.

Key features of existing public-health approaches to reduce gambling-related harms

- Wide variety of educational and informational supports have been developed by organizations such as the Responsible Gambling Council and the Gambling Research Exchange of Ontario to help inform Ontarians about the risks of gambling.
- Regulatory standards for gambling and gaming facilities including, among others, a legal age
  restriction of 19 and older (except for lottery and bingo where the age restriction is 18),
  restrictions on advertising of gambling which make it illegal to target minors and self-excluded
  persons, and responsibility to educate people about the risks of gambling and make them aware
  of where to obtain additional information, are enforced by the Alcohol and Gaming Commission
  of Ontario.
- Organization such as the Responsible Gambling Council and the Ontario Lottery and Gaming Commission have previously developed strategies to address problem gambling among specific populations including youth and Indigenous peoples.



Existing efforts to address gambling-related harms could be improved to better support individuals with multiple co-occurring conditions.

# **The problem:** Why are improvements needed to address gambling-related harms?

Several factors contribute to the need to strengthen collaboration and improve efforts addressing gambling-related harms. In discussion with health- and social-system stakeholders, we identified six factors:

- gambling-related harms are associated with a range of co-occurring issues;
- many provincial efforts to prevent gambling-related harms are pursued in isolation from other challenges associated with these harms;
- provincial efforts place greater emphasis on supporting individual problem-gambling behaviours, rather than on addressing gambling-related risks to the public as a whole;
- socio-economic, ethnocultural and geographical factors create unique issues that complicate our understanding of gambling in the province;
- existing governance and financial arrangements create a number of additional challenges;
   and
- data and evidence could be better used to understand the scope of the problem in Ontario.

## Gambling-related harms are associated with a range of co-occurring issues

Gambling-related harms can have devastating effects on individuals, their families and their surrounding communities, and these effects are complicated by the close association between gambling problems and a wide range of other physical and mental health conditions.(6) For example, most people who exhibit problem-gambling behaviour have at least one other condition alongside their problem gambling.

In terms of physical health conditions, the research evidence suggests associations between problem gambling and each of the following conditions:

- cardiovascular conditions;
- chronic bronchitis;
- chronic and severe headaches;
- colds and influenza;
- fibromyalgia;
- gastrointestinal problems;
- heart burn;
- low-back pain; and
- obesity.(7-9)

These conditions may be a result of the stress, strain, severe fatigue and sleep problems that often accompany problem-gambling behaviours.

In addition to physical health conditions, there is evidence that problem gambling is associated with a range of mental health and substance-use conditions. For example, individuals with gambling disorders are significantly more likely than non-gamblers to have high rates of anxiety, depression, suicidal ideation, personality disorders and post-traumatic stress disorder. These individuals are also more likely to have issues with alcohol abuse and dependence, nicotine addiction, cannabis use and other drug addictions.(10; 11)

The presence of these additional conditions appear to make symptoms of problem gambling worse, and reduce overall quality of life. They also make the treatment and management of problem gambling significantly more difficult, as healthcare and social-care providers need to ensure they are attentive to all of the patients' needs, and have the ability to coordinate between an array of providers who may need to be involved.

# Many provincial efforts to prevent gambling-related harms are pursued in isolation from other challenges associated with these harms

While the government of Ontario supports a number of programs that help individuals to prevent, treat and manage problem-gambling behaviours, they are often provided in isolation from other related health and social concerns. These additional concerns include family challenges or mental health and substance-use issues. However, many existing programs focus on responsible gambling practices, such as providing individuals with information about setting personal gambling budgets or the risks associated with gambling, and overlook the many conditions that exist alongside problem-gambling behaviours.(12; 13)

While there have been efforts, often as contained projects, to provide services that address all of the challenges listed above, improvements to the process of planning and implementing programs and services need to be made to ensure that they better address gambling-related harms and all associated comorbidities.

# Provincial efforts place greater emphasis on supporting individual problem-gambling behaviours, rather than on addressing gambling-related risks to the public as a whole

As mentioned earlier, existing approaches to address problem-gambling behaviour have been focused on providing an individual with support rather than emphasizing policy approaches that focus on entire communities or populations. Population-wide approaches (also known as public-health approaches) aim to promote health and social well-being, while preventing gambling-related harms from occurring. Examples of such approaches include (but are not limited to) advertising and marketing limits, and restrictions on time and availability of purchase.(14) The limited adoption of these approaches differs from other addictions to legal substances such as tobacco and alcohol, where public-health approaches are more widespread.

#### McMaster Health Forum

Despite the relative lack of emphasis on public-health approaches to reduce gambling-related harms, some efforts have been made in the province. These include the education and awareness strategies pursued by the Responsible Gaming Council and the Ontario Lottery and Gaming Corporation, efforts by the Gambling Research Exchange Ontario to bring a public health lens to gambling, as well as some of the regulatory standards enforced by the Alcohol Gaming Commission of Ontario. However, most agree that there is significant room to grow the use of these approaches to prevent gambling-related harms. This could include:

- awareness-raising efforts to reduce stigma about seeking help for gambling;
- access restrictions such as vendor caps or removing 24-hour gaming venues;
- efforts to change the environments in which gambling takes place such as restrictions on the sale of alcohol; or
- changing financial incentives by adjusting pricing and taxing.

# Socio-economic, ethnocultural and geographic factors create unique issues that further complicate our understanding of problem gambling

The diverse population in Ontario combined with the wide range of underlying factors complicate our understanding of gambling-related harms, the symptoms of problem gambling and how best to address them. Specifically, there are unique socio-economic, ethnocultural and geographic factors that have been identified as predictors of being at risk for problem-gambling behaviours. These are presented in Table 1 below.

**Table 1.** Socio-economic, demographic, ethnocultural and geographic factors that influence problem-gambling behaviour

Type of factor	How factor influences gambling behaviour
Socio-economic	<ul> <li>Individuals from lower-income groups have been found to:         <ul> <li>be at greater risk of problem gambling;</li> <li>spend a greater proportion of household income on games and gambling compared to those with higher incomes; and</li> <li>be at greater risk of experiencing severe financial consequences.(9; 15)</li> </ul> </li> <li>Research evidence suggests higher problem-gambling rates among this population may be a result of individuals believing that gambling represents an action they can take to improve their financial situation, despite the chances of success being quite low.(15)</li> </ul>
Demographic	<ul> <li>There is a growing concern that youth age 18-25 represent a high-risk group for gambling and gambling-related harms, with these harms being more prevalent among:         <ul> <li>males;</li> <li>those with parents who gamble;</li> <li>those who do not live with both parents;</li> <li>those with older parents;</li> <li>lower socio-economic status; and</li> <li>individuals who win a lot of money early on.</li> </ul> </li> <li>In addition to young adults, older adults have been identified as a group who are particularly vulnerable to the impact of problem gambling.</li> <li>While risk factors among older adults are similar to other populations, lower levels of social support and limited access to social activities may play a larger role in this population.</li> <li>Furthermore, the physical and mental health effects that stem from gambling may have a greater effect on older adults.</li> </ul>
Ethnocultural	<ul> <li>Some ethnocultural communities may be at a higher risk for developing problem-gambling behaviour than others.(9)</li> <li>Higher rates of gambling may occur in communities where cultural traditions encourage gambling as an appropriate behaviour, even when it may be problematic.(16)</li> <li>Ethnocultural factors may restrict access to treatment and management services for gambling-related harms, including:         <ul> <li>language barriers;</li> <li>difficulty navigating health and social systems;</li> <li>uncertainty in what services are publicly available; and</li> <li>shame or stigma in asking for or receiving help.(16)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

#### McMaster Health Forum

#### **Geographic**

- Research evidence suggests that problem gambling is closely associated with an individual's proximity to a casino or racetrack.(17)
- Proximity to gambling may also include ease of transportation, for example, easy access to a highway or direct public transportation.(9)
- Those communities with additional risk factors for gambling-related harms may be particularly at risk should a gambling facility be introduced.(17)
- These geographic factors are affected substantially by the expansion of online gambling by increasing ease of access and availability.

# Existing governance and financial arrangements create a number of additional challenges

Existing health- and social-system arrangements, including how these systems are governed and paid for, create additional challenges in getting the right programs and services to those who need them.

In particular, the way the system is governed limits the access to and use of services in two ways. First, the responsibility for gambling-related services is split between different government ministries (for example, the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care, the Ministry of Community and Social Services, and the Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Facilities), government agencies (such as the Ontario Lottery and Gaming Corporation), and private sector companies. With so many players involved, it is unclear who is responsible for ensuring that Ontarians get the full range of services they need – a particular challenge for individuals who may have more than one comorbidity associated with the gambling-related harms they need support in addressing. Second, there is little coordination, or in some cases, communication between each of these responsible groups, resulting in different approaches to how gambling should be managed in the province, with some focused on financial aspects, such as revenue generation, and others on treatment and prevention of gambling-related harms.

The way gambling is funded in the province also creates challenges in addressing gambling-related harms. First, relative to the proportion of spending on advertising and promotion, significantly fewer resources (almost eight times less) are put towards treatment, education, prevention and research.(18; 19) Second, the money that does get allocated to programs and services is kept separate from the funding of other important services such as those

addressing associated challenges, including other mental health and addictions services, despite the same individuals often needing access to both. This split approach to funding programs and services can make things less efficient.

# Data and evidence could be better used to understand gambling-related harms in Ontario

Two key challenges that underpin the other problems mentioned above are: 1) the limited collection of data and evidence related to gambling-related harms; and 2) the resulting limited use of data and evidence in informing decision-making processes.

First, while data are collected about gambling engagement and rates of problem gambling, relatively little of it is widely available to the public. However, as mentioned at the outset of this document, the use of gambling support services is relatively low among individuals who could use them, and most individuals refer themselves to support services. As such, existing data do not provide a full picture of gambling behaviours or the harms associated with them.

Second, the data from agencies such as Statistics Canada and ConnexOntario are not consistently used in the design and development of programs and services for gambling-related harms. It has also been suggested that the data provided are not specific enough to local communities in Ontario, making it difficult to determine how to adapt provincial policies and programs to meet the diverse needs of the many communities across the province.



Strengthening collaboration to optimize efforts addressing gambling-related harms will require the consideration of a number of elements.

# Elements of an approach to address the problem

>> To promote discussion about the pros and cons of potential solutions, we have selected three elements of an approach for strengthening collaboration to optimize efforts addressing gambling-related harms.

Many approaches could be selected as a starting point for discussion. We have selected the following three elements of an approach for which we are seeking public input:

- 1) get the right services to those who need them and bring a public-health perspective to bear;
- 2) align how funds set aside from gaming revenue are used to better support evidence-informed policies and practices;
- 3) establish governance structures that clarify leadership, strengthen collaboration, and promote cross-sectoral partnerships.

These elements should not be considered separately. Instead, each should be considered as contributing to a potentially comprehensive approach to addressing the problem. New elements could also emerge during the discussions. Box 4 below summarizes how research evidence has been identified, selected and synthesized for each element.

## Box 4: Identification, selection and synthesis of research evidence presented in this brief

- Whenever possible, we describe what is known about each element based on systematic reviews.
- A systematic review is a summary of all the studies looking at a specific topic.
- A systematic review uses very rigorous methods to identify, select and appraise the quality of all the studies, and to summarize the key findings from these studies.
- A systematic review gives a much more complete and reliable picture of the key research findings, as opposed to looking at just a few individual studies.
- We identified systematic reviews in Health Systems Evidence
   (www.healthsystemsevidence.org). Health Systems Evidence is the world's most
   comprehensive database of research evidence on health systems. We also used
   evidence from the Gambling Research Exchange Ontario's Evidence Centre.
- A systematic review was included if it was relevant to one of the elements covered in the brief.
- We then summarized the key findings from all the relevant systematic reviews.

# Element 1 — Get the right services to those who need them and bring a public-health perspective to bear

#### Overview

This element focuses on identifying ways to improve the availability and accessibility of existing gambling services to reduce gambling-related harms and their comorbidities. It also considers how to develop approaches to reduce gambling-related harms through publichealth approaches that focus on entire communities and population. This could mean pursuing any of the following:

- include the full range of cost-effective approaches to reduce gambling-related harms in the set of core mental health and addictions services (the publicly-funded set of institutional, hospital, residential and community services that is available to all Ontarians in every region in the province) being provided in Ontario;
- ensure that these approaches address comorbidities of gambling-related harms;
- embrace public-health approaches to develop population-level efforts to reduce gambling-related harms (for example, restricting access, changing prices and altering gambling environments to support healthy behaviours); and
- support the use of the best available research evidence in each of these areas to inform policies and practices.

#### Evidence to consider

Table 2 provides a summary of the evidence we identified that addressed this element.

**Table 2.** Summary of evidence about element 1

Sub-element	Evidence
Include the full range of cost-effective approaches to reduce gambling-related harms in the set of core mental health and addictions services being provided in Ontario	<ul> <li>Providing gambling information sessions at schools improved students' knowledge of the harms of gambling, changed attitudes, and corrected common misconceptions. However, it remains unclear whether these sessions changed students' behaviour.(20; 21)</li> <li>There is a wide variety of reliable tools available to screen individuals for gambling problems, however there is some uncertainty about whether these can be relied on to identify problem-gambling behaviours in those who gamble online due to a limited number of studies and different characteristics of online poker players.(22; 23)</li> <li>Using internet and mobile technologies, such as cellphones and tablets, to deliver programs and services to help reduce gambling-related harms have showed promise, and have been found to be both time- and cost-effective.(24; 25)</li> </ul>
Ensure that these approaches address comorbidities of gambling-related harms	Generally, services that combine care for a specific condition and its comorbidities achieve better results than when care is delivered separately.(26)
Embrace publichealth approaches to develop populationlevel efforts to reduce gambling-related harms	<ul> <li>Different forms of gambling are more and less responsive to changes to the cost of playing (for example, requiring an entrance fee, increasing the price of a lottery ticket or increasing the price per play). Evidence shows that when the cost of lottery tickets and horse racing increases, less people participate in these activities. However, this was not found to be the case when the cost of casino-based gambling increased.(27)</li> <li>Warning messages that pop-up over a player's screen and require them to close the message can be used to reduce risky gambling behaviour.(28)</li> <li>In addition, each of the following approaches supported healthy behaviour changes among individuals who gamble:         <ul> <li>mandatory limit setting on the amount to be spent in one session;</li> <li>individual bet limits when set as a low dollar value, such as \$1;</li> <li>mandatory shut-down at a certain hour or reducing casino operating hours; and</li> <li>on-screen clocks that display cash spent rather than credits.(29)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
Support the use of the best-available research evidence in each of these areas to inform policies and practices	<ul> <li>Providing decision-makers with clear summaries of research evidence can improve their use of this evidence to inform policies and practices, particularly when the evidence supports an easy change for them to make.(30)</li> </ul>

#### McMaster Health Forum

#### Questions to consider in relation to element 1

- What specific risk factors do you think are most important to pay attention to when developing solutions at the individual level? At the community level? At the provincial level?
- Which health and social harms associated with gambling should be prioritized in the supports made available to Ontarians?
- Do you think that gambling services and supports should be provided with other mental health and addictions services? Why or why not?
  - o If yes, are there some services you would keep separate?
- What are the most appropriate ways to reduce gambling-related harms at the population level in Ontario?
  - o Restricting access?
  - o Changing the cost of playing (for example, including entrance fees, changing the price of a lottery ticket, or increasing the price per play)?
  - o Altering gambling environments to support healthy behaviours?

# Element 2 — Align how funds set aside from gaming revenue are used to better support evidence-informed policies and practices

#### Overview

The focus of this element is on aligning funding for gambling-related services with other supports such as mental health and addictions. The intention of aligning funding is to better support coordination between the full range of programs and services developed to reduce gambling-related harms, including those for both physical and mental health or substance-use comorbidities. This would support better, more comprehensive care for individuals experiencing gambling-related harms and its comorbidities. This could mean pursuing any of the following:

- ensure that any funds set aside from provincial gaming revenue can be allocated to support the delivery of gambling-specific services alongside other types of mental health and addictions services;
- expand the use of funds that have been set aside for gambling-specific services to enhance cost-effective strategies that:
  - o address comorbidities; and
  - o build capacity to use a public-health approach.

#### Evidence to consider

We were unable to find any research evidence that directly addressed this element.

#### Questions to consider in relation to element 2

- Should a portion of the gaming revenue from the province be set aside to improve collaboration across providers and programs and services? Why or why not?
  - O What if that means less money is spent on delivering programs and services?
- What types of approaches should be prioritized for funding?
  - o Prevention and education?
  - o Identification of problem gambling?
  - o Management and treatment?
  - o Population-level strategies (or public-health approaches)?
  - O Use of data and research evidence?

# Element 3 — Establish governance structures that clarify leadership, strengthen collaboration, and promote cross-sectoral partnerships

#### Overview

The focus of this element is on identifying ways to help clarify leadership, strengthen collaboration, and promote partnerships across providers, organizations and agencies responsible for the oversight of gambling-related services in Ontario. This could mean pursuing any of the following:

- create an arm's-length advisory group to define and update:
  - o the list of gambling-specific services that should be provided with other mental health and addictions services;
  - o the sectors that should be involved; and
  - o the public-health approaches that should be used; and
- include leaders with experience in gambling-related harms in future provincial advisory committees and/or mental health and addictions organizations and other areas of policy where gambling impacts may be felt.

#### Evidence to consider

We were unable to find any research evidence that directly addressed this element. We did find some research evidence that supported adopting a coordinated approach across sectors (such as across the social and health sectors) for implementing system-wide change over the long term.(31)

#### Questions to consider

- What agency, organization or government ministry (or ministries) should be responsible for ensuring Ontarians have access to the full range of programs and services they need?
- Who is in the best position to lead the collaboration across all of the organizations and agencies (and sectors) involved in gambling-related services (including those that address comorbidities)?
  - o A new arm's-length agency?
  - o An advisory group?
  - o A specific government ministry?
  - o A number of government ministries working together?

#### Strengthening Collaboration to Optimize Efforts Addressing Gambling-related Harm in Ontario

• What types of information would be useful for citizens to judge whether the right supports and services are getting to those who need them?



### Implementation considerations

It is important to consider what barriers we may face if we implement the proposed elements to address the problem. These barriers may affect different groups (for example, patients, citizens, healthcare and social-care providers), different organizations involved in the development and delivery of programs and services, or the health and social systems within which these programs and services are delivered. While some barriers could be overcome, others could be so substantial that they force us to re-evaluate whether we should pursue that element. Some potential barriers to implementing the elements are summarized in Table 3.



**Table 3:** Potential barriers to implementing the elements

Element	Description of potential barriers
Element 1 – Get the right services to those who need them and bring a public-health perspective to bear	<ul> <li>Citizens who are gambling safely may feel that the public-health approaches intrude on their independence.</li> <li>Some healthcare and social-care providers may worry that expanding the programs and services provided may increase their workload.</li> <li>Individual healthcare and social-care providers may not be equipped to provide services that address the full range of comorbidities associated with gambling-related harms.</li> <li>Gambling vendors may be negatively affected financially by certain elements of a public-health approach.</li> </ul>
Element 2 – Align how funds set aside from gaming revenue are used to better support evidence-informed policies and practices	<ul> <li>Some healthcare and social-care providers may worry that integration with other mental health and addictions services may result in them losing out on delivering (and as a result not being paid for) certain gambling-specific services.</li> <li>Organizations delivering programs and services may not all agree on how funds are being allocated.</li> <li>Funding streams across sectors, ministries, and organizations and agencies have historically been separate, potentially creating some challenges for their integration or alignment.</li> </ul>
Element 3 – Establish governance structures that clarify leadership, strengthen collaboration and promote cross- sectoral partnerships	<ul> <li>Patients may be dissatisfied if they are not engaged in decision-making or program planning.</li> <li>Some healthcare and social-care providers may resist changes to governance arrangements, particularly if they involve new accountability structures that restrict their independence.</li> <li>Organizations delivering programs and services may resist changes to governance structures if they think these changes will reduce their own role in the oversight and delivery of programs and services.</li> <li>Health and social systems have traditionally operated separately in Ontario, creating a range of challenges to overcome</li> </ul>

#### McMaster Health Forum

The implementation of each of the three elements could also be influenced by the ability to take advantage of potential windows of opportunity. A window of opportunity could be, for example, a recent event that was highly publicized in the media, a crisis, a change in public opinion, or an upcoming election. A window of opportunity can facilitate the implementation of an option.

#### Examples of potential windows of opportunity

- Mental health and addictions reform: Recent changes and success in establishing a
  province-wide mental health and addictions strategy has generated some positive
  momentum that would support efforts to strengthen collaboration in addressing
  gambling-related harms.
- Searching for efficiencies in the health system: Opportunities to take advantage of efficiencies through improved collaboration and integration may be of interest to policymakers, many of whom are concerned with the amount being spent (particularly on the health system) in Ontario.
- **Previous successes with a public-health approach:** A public-health approach has been successfully adopted to address a range of mental health and addictions issues, such as restricting access to alcohol and tobacco and reducing stigma around the use of mental health services.

#### Box 4: Questions for citizens

#### Questions related to the problem

- Do you have any worries about gambling-related harms?
  - o Are there particular risk factors for problem gambling that you find more concerning than others?
  - o Are there particular health and social challenges that you find more concerning than others?
- What are the biggest gambling-related challenges that communities face?
- Are there specific groups of Ontarians for which the problems associated with gambling are
  particularly concerning (for example, those with lower incomes, those from particular age
  groups or cultural backgrounds, those with mental health concerns, or those living in particular
  areas)?
- What do you think are the major barriers faced by individuals with gambling-related problems when trying to access the services they may need to improve their health and well-being?

### General questions related to the elements of a potentially comprehensive approach to address the problem

- What types of programs and services should be made more accessible to individual Ontarians in order to reduce gambling-related harms?
- What types of 'public-health' approaches should be used to reduce gambling-related harms across entire communities?
- How could the approach to funding the full range of programs and services delivered by organizations and agencies be improved?
- Who should be responsible for coordinating an approach that ensures Ontarians have access to the full range of support they need to reduce gambling-related harms?

#### Question related to implementation considerations

• What are the main challenges in moving forward with solutions to address gambling-related harms in Ontario?

### Acknowledgments

#### **Authors**

Kerry Waddell, M.Sc., Co-Lead Evidence synthesis, McMaster Health Forum Kaelan A. Moat, PhD, Managing Director, McMaster Health Forum John N. Lavis, MD, PhD, Director, McMaster Health Forum, and Professor, McMaster University Heather Bullock, M.Sc., Co-Lead, Evidence Synthesis, McMaster Health Forum

#### **Funding**

The citizen brief and the citizen panel it was prepared to inform were funded by the Gambling Research Exchange Ontario and the Government of Ontario (through a Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care Health System Research Fund grant entitled Harnessing Evidence and Values for Health System Excellence). The McMaster Health Forum receives both financial and in-kind support from McMaster University. The views expressed in the evidence brief are the views of the authors and should not be taken to represent the views of the funders.

#### Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no professional or commercial interests relevant to the citizen brief. The funder played no role in the identification, selection, assessment, synthesis, or presentation of the research evidence profiled in the citizen brief.

#### Merit review

The citizen brief was reviewed by a small number of citizens, other stakeholders, policymakers and researchers in order to ensure its relevance and rigour.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank Fanny Cheng and Puru Panchal for assistance with reviewing the research evidence about the elements. We are especially grateful to Michelle Nogueira for her insightful comments and suggestions. The views expressed in this brief should not be taken to represent the views of these individuals.

#### Citation

Waddell K, Moat, KA Lavis JN, Bullock H. Citizen brief: Strengthening collaboration to optimize efforts addressing gambling-related harms in Ontario. Hamilton: McMaster Health Forum, 2 February 2018.

#### ISSN

2292-2334 (Online)

### References

- 1. Ontario Lottery and Gaming Corporation. 2014-15 Annual Report. Toronto: Ontario Lottry and Gaming Corportation; 2015.
- 2. Centre for Additation and Mental Health. Gambling policy framework. Toronto: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.
- 3. Smith G. The nature and scope of gambling in Canada. *Addiction* 2014; 109(5): 706-10.
- 4. Ontario Lottery and Gaming Corporation. Responsible gambling. Toronto: Ontario Lottery and Gaming Corporation; 2017. <a href="https://about.olg.ca/responsible-gambling/">https://about.olg.ca/responsible-gambling/</a> (accessed 16 November 2017).
- 5. Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. Open minds, healthy minds: Ontario's comprehensive mental health and addictions strategy. Toronto: Queen's Printer for Ontario; 2011
- 6. Kessler RC, Hwang I, LaBrie R, et al. The prevalence and correlates of DSM-IV pathological gambling in the National Comorbidity Survey replication. *Psychological Medicine* 2008; 38(9): 1351-60.
- 7. Afifi TO, Cox BJ, Martens PJ, Sareen J, Enns MW. The relationship between problem gambling and mental and physical health correlates among a nationally representative sample of Canadian women. *Canadian Journal of Public Health* 2010; 101(2): 171-5.
- 8. Bergh C, Kuhlhorn E. Social, psychological and physical consequences of pathological gambling in Sweden. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 1994; 10(3): 275-85.
- 9. Dalton A, Stover A, Vanderlinden L, Turner N. The health impacts of gambling expansion in Toronto: Technical report. Toronto: Toronto Public Health; 2013.
- 10. Subramaniam M, Wang P, Soh P, et al. Prevalence and determinants of gambling disorder among older adults: A systematic review. *Addictive Behaviors* 2015; 41(Supplement C): 199-209.
- 11. Hartmann M, Blaszczynski A. The longitudinal relationships between psychiatric disorders and gambling disorders. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction* 2016.
- 12. Lorains FK, Cowlishaw S, Thomas SA. Prevalence of comorbid disorders in problem and pathological gambling: systematic review and meta-analysis of population surveys. *Addiction* 2011; 106(3): 490-8.
- 13. Mental Health Commission of Canada. Turning the key: Assessing housing and related supports for persons living with mental health problems and illnesses. Ottawa: Mental Health Commission of Canada; 2012.
- 14. Alcohol and Gaming Commission of Ontario. Registrar's standards for gaming. Toronto: Alcohol and Gaming Commission of Ontario; 2017.

#### McMaster Health Forum

- 15. Hahmann T, Matheson F. Problem gambling and poverty. Toronto: Gambling Research Exchange Ontario; 2017.
- 16. Young M, Sztainert T. The treatment and prevention of problem gambling in Ontario ethno-cultural communities: Report to the Ontario problem gambling research centre. Toronto.
- 17. Rush BR, Veldhuizen S, Adlaf E. Mapping the prevalence of problem gambling and its association with treatment accessibility and proximity to gambling venues. *Journal of Gambling Issues* 2007; 20: 193-213.
- 18. Ontario Lottery and Gaming Corporation. Corporate social responsibility report 2015-16. Toronto: Ontario Lottery and Gaming Corporation.
- 19. Ontario Lottery and Gaming Corporation. 2015-16 Annual report. Toronto: Ontario Lottery and Gaming Corporation.
- 20. Kourgiantakis T, Stark S, Lobo D, Tepperman L. Parent problem gambling: A systematic review of prevention programs for children. *Journal of Gambling Issues* 2016; 33.
- 21. Keen B, Blaszczynski A, Anjoul F. Systematic review of empirically evaluated school-based gambling education programs. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 2017; 33(1): 301-25.
- 22. Spice C. The effectiveness of interventions and social support for families affected by addiction: University of Birmingham; 2014.
- 23. Moreau A, Chabrol H, Chauchard E. Psychopathology of online poker players: Review of literature. *Journal of Behavioural Addictions* 2016; 5(2): 155-68.
- 24. Chebli JL, Blaszczynski A, Gainsbury SM. Internet-Based Interventions for Addictive Behaviours: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Gambling Studies* 2016; 32(4): 1279-304.
- 25. Danielsson AK, Eriksson AK, Allebeck P. Technology-based support via telephone or web: a systematic review of the effects on smoking, alcohol use and gambling. *Addictive Behaviour* 2014; 39(12): 1846-68.
- 26. Bullock H, Waddell K, Wilson M. Rapid synthesis: Identifying and assessing core components of collaborative-care models for treating mental ad physical health conditions. Hamilton: McMaster Health Forum; 2016.
- 27. Gallet C. Gambling demand: A meta-analysis of the price elasticity. *The Journal of Gambling Business and Economics* 2015; 9(1): 12-22.
- 28. Ginley MK, Whelan JP, Pfund RA, Peter SC, Meyers AW. Warning messages for electronic gambling machines: Evidence for regulatory policies. *Addiction Research & Theory* 2017; 25(6): 495-504.
- 29. Tanner J, Drawson A, Mushquash C, Mushquash A, Mazmanian D. Harm reduction in gambling: A systematic review of industry strategies. *Addiction Research & Theory* 2017; 25(6).

#### Strengthening Collaboration to Optimize Efforts Addressing Gambling-related Harm in Ontario

- 30. Murthy L, Shepperd S, Clarke MJ, et al. Interventions to improve the use of systematic reviews in decision-making by health system managers, policy makers and clinicians. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2012; (9): Cd009401.
- 31. Ndumbe-Eyoh S, Moffatt H. Intersectoral action for health equity: a rapid systematic review. *BMC Public Health* 2013; 13: 1056.





**McMaster HEALTH FORUM** 

#### >> Contact us

1280 Main St. West, MML-417 Hamilton, ON, Canada L8S 4L6 +1.905.525.9140 x 22121 forum@mcmaster.ca

#### >> Find and follow us

mcmasterforum.org healthsystemsevidence.org mcmasteroptimalaging.org



O 0 mcmasterforum



